## 23-CO-288



Clerk of the Court Received 10/10/2023 12:43 PM

(Sup. Ct. No. 2020 CF2 001903)

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

## LARRY WHITE, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

## UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

### **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

Tamara Jones, Esq. Bar No. 1027938

The Legal Courthouse

The Legal Courthouse, PLLC 6218 Georgia Ave. NW Suite #1-682 Washington, D.C. 20011 Phone: (202) 597-3740 Attorney@theLegalCourthouse.com Counsel for Larry White, Jr.

## STATEMENT OF INTERESTED PARTIES

Parties: Larry White, Jr, Appellant

United States, Appellee

## **JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction over this timely appeal from a final order in D.C. Superior Court.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Did the trial court err in holding that Mr. White didn't show proof of the prejudice prong in 23-110 motion?

# (2) Did the trial court err in denying Mr. White's § 23-110 motion by considering findings not supported by evidence?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 13, 2021, Appellant, Mr. White, was convicted in a stipulated bench trial to Carrying a Pistol Without a License, Possessing a Large Capacity of Ammunition Feeding Device, Possessing an Unregistered Firearm, and Unlawfully Possessing Ammunition. Mr. White's trial counsels in this matter were ineffective as they did not relay the Pre-Indictment Plea to Mr. White. It would have been in Mr. White's best interest to take the plea that was offered by the government, and Mr. White would have taken the plea and not gone to trial had it not been for the ineffectiveness of his trial counsels.

On April 29<sup>th</sup>, 2022, by and through undersigned counsel, Mr. White filed a § 23-110 motion in order to prayfully rectify the prejudice that Mr. White suffered and allow him to take the plea. The trial court denied the § 23-100.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 9, 2022, the trial court denied Mr. White's Motion to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence filed on April 29, 2022. The government filed its opposition to Mr. White's Motion to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence on October 14, 2022. Mr. White's Motion to Vacate was based on ineffective assistance of counsel as Mr. White's trial counsels did not present his preindictment plea to him that was offered by the government. Instead, Mr. White's trial counsels advised him to move forward with a stipulated trial without informing him that there was a plea available to him.

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The standard of review of a trial court's denial of a defendant's ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim is well established. The appellate court accepts the judge's factual findings

unless they lack evidentiary support but reviews his or her legal conclusions de novo. *Bost v. United States*, 178 A.3d 1156, 1169.

Both the deficient performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry involve mixed questions of law and fact, which means the appellate court accepts a trial court's factual findings unless they lack evidentiary support, but the appellate court reviews its legal determinations de novo. *Benitez v. United States*, 60 A.3d 1230, 1232

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Mr. Whites' constitutional rights were violated, and the trial court erred when it denied his § 23-110 motion for relief.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. The Trial Court Erred in its Strickland Findings.

#### A. The Trial Court Erred in Finding that Mr. White Failed to Show a Reasonable Probability that He Would Have Accepted the Plea Offer.

To demonstrate prejudice, an appellant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Clark v. United States*, 136 A.3d 334, 336. If a plea bargain has been offered, a defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel in considering whether to accept it. If that right is denied, prejudice can be shown if loss of the plea opportunity led to a trial resulting in a conviction on more serious charges or the imposition of a more severe sentence. *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 156

In this instant case, the trial court based its denial of Appellant's Ineffective Assistance of Counsel claim, on its finding that "he has failed to show that there is a reasonable probability that he would have accepted the plea offer..." *See* Limited Appendix pg. 6 at 12. The trial court interpreted the Appellant's statement in his declaration, "that he most likely" would have

accepted the plea as an implication that Appellant was "grappling whether he should take a plea or proceed with a stipulated trial." *See* Limited Appendix pg.6 at 10. The trial court erred in its interpretation and should have called an evidentiary hearing to inquire about the Appellant's statement. Furthermore, for the record, throughout the Appellant's § 23-110 motion he asserts several times that he would have taken the plea. *See* Limited Appendix pg. 3 at 5.

The trial court erred because the Appellant did show that there is a reasonable probability that he would have accepted the plea offer. "We have repeatedly said that the "reasonable probability" standard is not the same as the "more likely than not" or "preponderance of the evidence" standard; it is a qualitatively lesser standard." *Kyles* v. *Whitley*, 514 U. S. 419, 434, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 131 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1995). *Chinn v. Shoop*, 143 S. Ct. 28, 28. This Court claimed that a reasonable probability standard was a lesser standard than more likely than not. Therefore, Appellant's statement met the reasonable probability standard. Furthermore, the Appellant attached his declaration to support his argument, which clearly establishes that he would have taken the plea. In Appellant's § 23-110 motion, Appellant asserts that "he would have taken the plea had it been presented to him because it would have put him in a better position.," and "he would have taken that offer from the government." *See* Limited Appendix pg. 3 at 5 and 6. Appellant states clearly that, "he would have taken that offer from the government." The trial court did not take Appellant's sassertions into consideration.

As a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused. If defense counsel allows the offer to expire without advising the defendant or allowing him to consider it, defense counsel does not render the effective assistance the Constitution requires. To show prejudice where a plea offer has lapsed or been rejected because of counsel's deficient

7

performance, defendants must demonstrate a reasonable probability they would have accepted the plea offer had they been afforded effective assistance of counsel. But that is not enough to establish Strickland prejudice: Defendants must also demonstrate a reasonable probability the plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it, if they had the authority to exercise that discretion under applicable law. Additionally, defendants must show a reasonable probability that the end result of the criminal process would have been more favorable by reason of a plea to a lesser charge or a sentence of less prison time. *Benitez v. United States*, 60 A.3d 1230, 1232.

# **B.** The Trial Court Erred in Holding that Trial Counsel's Performance Was Not Deficient.

The trial court held, that "there is ample evidence that trial counsel's performance was not deficient..." *See* Limited Appendix pg. 6 at 7. The trial court in its order, while quoting, *Missouri v. Frye*, stated, "If defense counsel "allow[s] the offer to expire without advising the defendant or allowing him to consider it, defense counsel did not render the effective assistance the Constitution requires." *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 134. *See* Limited Appendix pg. 6.

The order then states that "the Government advised that the plea offer would expire on October 29, 2020....." and on October 30, 2020, Mr. Tun read the terms of the agreement to Mr. White over speaker phone." *See* Limited Appendix pg. 6 at 8. The trial court acknowledges that the trial attorney discussed the plea with Appellant *after* the plea had already expired, which in itself renders trial counsel's performance ineffective. Furthermore, the fact that trial counsel thought that offering the plea a day later should have caused the trial court to question his credibility.

Trial counsel also claimed that he made a counteroffer of an extended plea to the government without any assertion that the defendant was first consulted or offered the original

plea. *See* Limited Appendix pg. 5 at 5. The trial court in its order acknowledged that trial counsel made a counteroffer to the plea. The fact that trial counsel didn't consult with Appellant at the time the plea was offered, yet instead counteroffered, is problematic and appears to be ineffective. Appellant had a right to understand that particular offer and make a decision whether he wanted to accept even before trial counsel counteroffered. This alone shows that it is more probable than not that trial counsel was deficient in consulting with Appellant about the subsequent plea offer. It appears that the trial court erred in not finding deficiency in these facts.

Furthermore, according to the record, the government reextended a plea offer on August 24, 2020 and trial counsel asserts that it made an appointment to speak with Appellant on October 29, 2020. Therefore, for two months, Appellant was unaware of the plea offer and trial counsel waited until the last day to attempt to explain the offer to Appellant, only to allegedly speak with him after the expiration date of the plea. *See* Limited Appendix pg. 5-Exhibit 1 at 11. Considering these facts, the trial court should have found that trial counsel's performance was deficient on its face.

## II. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Mr. White's § 23-110 Motion Because the Trial Court's Findings Weren't Supported by the Evidence.

According to the Supreme Court, a guilty plea is an event of signal significance in a criminal proceeding. Certain decisions regarding the exercise or waiver of basic trial rights are of such moment that they cannot be made for the defendant by a surrogate. A defendant has the ultimate authority to determine whether to plead guilty, waive a jury, testify in his or her own behalf, or take an appeal. Concerning those decisions, an attorney must both consult with the defendant and obtain consent to the recommended course of action. *Clark v. United States*, 136 A.3d 334, 336. A lawyer is an agent; the client is the principal. When it comes to electing among options before sentencing that will determine the client's prison time, a lawyer cannot ethically or

lawfully interdict that choice by acting as the client's principal and justifying that preemptive role as a legitimate tactical decision. *Id*.

The trial court in its order stated that, "Mr. White....did not vocalize- at any time- that he was unaware of a plea offer." *See* Limited Appendix pg. 6 at 9. Mr. White did not know of a plea offer to vocalize anything about it in open court. If the Appellant didn't know about a plea offer, he couldn't vocalize that he was unaware of it. Even in the trial attorney's declaration, he stated that he communicated the plea offer through Mr. White's family. *See* Limited Appendix pg. 5 - Exhibit 2 at 9 and Exhibit 1.

The trial court also refutes Appellant's argument made, by saying that "it is possible that trial counsel had relayed an earlier plea to Mr. White...." *Id.* The evidence didn't support this wholly. Trial counsels' affidavits appear to seem inconsistent. They offered no dates when they allegedly communicated the preindictment plea to Mr. White or location as other parts of the affidavit. *See* Limited Appendix pg.5 at Exhibit 1 #7. The fact that the affidavit states the plea was relayed through his family and trial counsel counteroffered without consulting with Appellant, seems to support that the trial counsels were ineffective and that the trial court should have called a hearing.

#### **III.** The Trial Court Erred in Not Calling a Hearing.

The trial court held that, "because the Court concludes that Mr. White's claims are vague and conclusory, and there is no genuine dispute as to the material facts of the claim, an evidentiary hearing is not necessary." *See* Limited Appendix pg. 6 at 12. The statute under which courts might review for ineffectiveness of counsel, D.C. Code § 23-110, creates a presumption that a hearing should be held, especially where the allegations of ineffectiveness relate to facts outside the trial record. The statute emphasizes that unless the motion and files and records of the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief, the trial court shall cause notice thereof to be served upon the prosecuting authority, grant a prompt hearing thereon, determine the issues, and make findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect thereto.

Although the decision whether to hold a hearing under D.C. Code § 23-110 is committed to the trial court's sound discretion, the scope of that discretion is quite narrow. Any question regarding the appropriateness of a hearing should be resolved in favor of holding a hearing. An appellate court will affirm the trial court's denial of a § 23-110 motion without a hearing only if the claims: (1) are palpably incredible; (2) are vague and conclusory; or (3) even if true, do not entitle the movant to relief. *Clark v. United States*, 136 A.3d 334, 336. .....the Court must be satisfied that under no circumstances could the appellant establish facts warranting relief. Any question regarding the appropriateness of a hearing on a § 23-110 motion should be resolved in favor of holding a hearing. *Dorsey v. United States*, 225 A.3d 724, 727.

Here the trial court should have held a hearing. Much of what was declared by trial counsel was outside of the record. Also, the Appellant's circumstances based on the facts could not have been taken as circumstances that didn't want relief. Appellants claims were not vague and conclusory. In fact, in Appellant's § 23-110 motion he was very specific that he didn't receive the plea and that he would have accepted the plea, had he been offered it. The trial court should have held a hearing in order to ascertain the truth especially because the trial attorney's credibility was in question. Not only did they make questionable statements about offering the plea to Mr. White, Harry Tun had several pending matters with the DC Bar Disciplinary Board. Although this may not bear on the instant matter, the fact that the trial counsels thought it was ok to assert that they offered the Appellant the plea, the day after it expired was fair, should have been enough for the trial court to call a hearing. Especially because trial counsels didn't assert

11

that they were able to open the plea back up after its expiration date.

## CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Mr. White prays that this court vacate his conviction.