**BRIEF FOR APPELLEE** 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CO-288

LARRY WHITE, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB ELIZABETH H. DANELLO

- \* KEVIN BIRNEY, D.C. Bar # 1029424 Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Kevin.Birney@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2020-CF2-001903



Received 02/15/2024 12:00 PM Filed 02/15/2024 12:00 PM

Appellee.

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying White's § 23-110 motion. The Court does not need to consider the issue of deficiency. Even if White could show that his attorneys failed to convey the government's plea offer, White failed to show prejudice. Specifically, he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court also briefly noted that it was "*possible*" that White could have received a lesser sentence if he had pleaded guilty to one count of CPWL and the government had capped its allocution at 10 months (which was the bottom of White's guidelines range for CPWL), but it was "not known how much of those 10 months the Court would have imposed" (R. 22 at 12). Because White has subsequently been revoked on probation and ordered to serve more than 10 months of incarceration, the government does not rely on any argument that White has not shown that his sentence under a plea agreement would have been less severe than the sentence he ultimately received.

did not show a reasonable probability that he would have accepted the plea offer. He never asserted that he would have accepted the government's offer. All he said was that he "likely" would have accepted it. Based on the timing of that assertion and White's evident desire to pursue his suppression motion—which the government's plea offer would not have allowed—the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that White failed to show a reasonable probability that he in fact wanted to accept the plea offer and plead guilty.

No hearing was required. Putting aside the issue of deficiency, because White's assertions would not support a finding of prejudice, his claims would not have warranted relief even if true.

#### ARGUMENT

# The Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Summarily Denying White's D.C. Code § 23-110 Motion.

White argues (at 6-12) that the trial court erred (1) when it found that there was no reasonable probability that White would have accepted the plea offer; (2) in finding counsel not deficient even though they advised White of the plea offer after the expiration date and apparently made a counteroffer without his consent; (3) in certain inferences about counsel's performance that it took from the record; and (4) in not calling a hearing. The Court does not need to consider the second and third arguments, and the first and fourth arguments are without merit. The trial court correctly found that White's assertions did not support a prejudice claim and thus that no hearing was required.

# A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

This Court "review[s] a trial court's denial of a § 23-110 motion for abuse of discretion, assessing the trial court's findings of fact for clear error and determinations on questions of law *de novo*." *Gardner v. United States*, 140 A.3d 1172, 1195 (D.C. 2016) (internal citations omitted). Likewise, this Court reviews the trial court's decision to hold a hearing on a § 23-110 motion for abuse of discretion. *Wright v. United States*, 979 A.2d 26, 30 (D.C. 2009). A hearing is unnecessary when a defendant's motion consists of: "(1) vague and conclusory allegations, (2) palpably incredible claims, or (3) allegations that would merit no relief even if true." *Lopez v. United States*, 801 A.2d 39, 42 (D.C. 2002).

"When claiming ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must establish that his counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficiency resulted in prejudice." *Blackmon v. United States*, 215 A.3d 760, 764 (D.C. 2019) (internal citation omitted). "To establish deficiency, trial counsel must have made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Dickerson v. District of Columbia*, 182 A.3d 721, 730 (D.C. 2018) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). To show prejudice, a defendant must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984). Failure to show either deficiency or prejudice will defeat an ineffective-assistance claim. *Id.* at 700.

Regarding deficiency, "as a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused." *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 134, 145 (2012). "When defense counsel allow[s] the offer to expire without advising the defendant or allowing him to consider it, defense counsel d[oes] not render the effective assistance the Constitution requires." *Id.* Regarding prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his counsel's purported failure to convey the plea offer (1) he would have accepted and pleaded

guilty in accordance with the terms of the pre-trial plea offer; (2) the prosecution would not have withdrawn the plea offer in light of intervening circumstances; (3) the Court would have accepted the plea agreement; and (4) the conviction or sentence or both would have been less severe than the conviction and sentence the defendant received. *Frye*, 566 U.S. at 147; *see also Benitez v. United States*, 60 A.3d 1230, 1236-37 (D.C. 2013).

#### B. Discussion

## 1. White Fails to Show That Any Deficiency by Trial Counsel Prejudiced Him.

As the trial court found (R. 22 at 10), White has not shown a reasonable probability that he would have accepted the plea offer. *See Frye*, 566 U.S. at 147; *Benitez*, 60 A.3d at 1236-37. White never actually stated that he would have accepted the offer and pleaded guilty. In the declaration accompanying his § 23-110 motion, White stated only that he "most likely" would have accepted the government's plea offer (R. 4 at Ex. B).

Contrary to White's claim (at 7), this "most likely" qualifier was not enough to show a reasonable probability that he in fact would have accepted the plea offer and pleaded guilty. When he filed his § 23-110 motion in April 2022, White knew the exact terms of the plea offer. He also had presented his suppression motion, been found guilty and sentenced, and noted his appeal of the suppression ruling. At that point, White had all the information that he needed to determine whether the plea offer was a better option than filing a motion to suppress and engaging in a stipulated trial. Yet despite knowing the consequences of the path he followed, he still failed to state that the better option would have been to accept the plea offer. There was no reason for White's equivocationunless, as the trial court found (R. 22 at 10), he still was "grappling" with whether to plead guilty. Given White's evident uncertainty, the trial court correctly found that he had not established a "reasonable probability" that he would have accepted the government's plea offer.<sup>4</sup>

Furthermore, White had good reason not to accept the plea offer. In order to accept it, he would have had to waive his right to seek suppression

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> White points (at 7) to his counsel's claims—in counsel's § 23-110 motion—that White would have accepted the plea offer (R. 4 at 5-6). But White's counsel is not White, and White's counsel would not have been able to accept the plea offer without White's consent. The operative representations are the ones from White himself in his declaration, not arguments that White's counsel made in the § 23-110 motion.

of the evidence and, if a suppression motion were denied, to appeal that ruling. See R. 4 at Ex. A, p. 2 ("This plea offer expires when a trial date is set, or after any motions that will require a response by the government are filed in this case, including, but not limited to, motions to suppress, . . ."); *id.* ("In addition, your client agrees to waive his right to appeal his conviction on any basis, . . ."); *see also Collins v. United States*, 664 A.2d 1241, 1242 (D.C. 1995) (defendant could not challenge denial of motion to suppress on appeal; "A defendant who enters a guilty plea ordinarily waives all non-jurisdictional defects in the proceedings below on appeal."); *Moore v. United States*, 724 A.2d 1198, 1199 (D.C. 1999) (plea of guilty waives virtually all challenges) (collecting cases).

But White has consistently shown that he wanted to pursue his motion to suppress and to pursue an appeal. A week after White lost the suppression motion, his counsel told the court that he wanted to schedule a stipulated trial so that White could appeal that decision (R.310 at 50; 3/17/21 Tr. 3-4). Less than a month later, White entered into the stipulated trial (4/13/21 Tr. 6-7). At that hearing, White confirmed to Judge Brandt that he understood the differences between a stipulated trial and pleading guilty (*id*.). In particular, he understood that if he had decided to plead

guilty instead, he would be giving up his right to appeal (*id.* at 6). Instead, he decided to proceed with the stipulated trial (*id.* at 7). He confirmed that he understood that by doing so, he would be preserving his right to appeal the denial of the suppression motion (*id*.). He also confirmed that he had discussed these differences, and his options, with his attorneys (*id.*). He filed a notice of appeal shortly after the stipulated trial (R.310 at 63). He continues to pursue that appeal, arguing that his Fourth Amendment rights were violated when police learned of information from the GPS device that he was wearing. See Appellant Br. in Larry White, Jr. v. United States, No. 21-CF-310, at 14-15. Given White's evident desire to seek suppression and appeal, the trial court did not err in finding that White had failed to show a reasonable probability that he would have accepted the plea offer.

The contradictory goals of the two pending appeals highlight the weakness of White's prejudice claim. In the direct appeal, White seeks review and reversal of the trial court's denial of his suppression motion, which effectively would end the prosecution. In this § 23-110 appeal, if White succeeds in showing ineffectiveness of trial counsel in failing to inform him of the government's plea offer, the remedy would be a remand for the government to re-extend its offer. *See Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 174 (2012). And if White then accepted that offer, he would have to disavow his suppression claim in the trial court and this Court because, as we have discussed, the plea agreement would preclude any suppression challenge. White already had noted his suppression appeal at the time he filed his § 23-110 motion.<sup>5</sup> Given that he may well not have wanted to abandon his suppression appeal, he understandably was reluctant to commit to a guilty plea when he raised his ineffectiveness claim.

In sum, the problem for White is that he could not have it both ways: either he wanted to accept the plea offer and not pursue suppression, or he wanted to take his chances on suppression and reject the plea offer. His inability to say more than that he "likely" would have chosen to plead guilty indicated that he was still weighing his choices. The trial court thus did not abuse its discretion in finding that White had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Relatedly, if this Court were to find that a remand is appropriate for the trial court to hold a hearing on White's § 23-110 motion, it should reserve ruling on White's suppression argument so that White would have the opportunity to accept the re-extended offer if he prevails after that hearing. That acceptance would require him to withdraw his suppression appeal.

failed to satisfy his burden to show a reasonable probability that he would have accepted the plea offer. And because White cannot show prejudice, his ineffectiveness claim necessarily failed. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 700.

#### 2. No Hearing Was Required.

The trial court did not need to hold a hearing to deny White's motion. If this case turned on deficiency, we agree that a hearing would be necessary to resolve the factual dispute over whether White's attorneys told him about the plea offer. But neither the trial court nor this Court need to decide the deficiency question. Because White has never actually stated that he would have accepted the plea offer, and all indications are to the contrary, he would not be entitled to relief even assuming that counsel had not conveyed the plea offer to him. No hearing was necessary because the record already defeats White's prejudice claim. *See, e.g., Shepherd v. United States*, 296 A.3d 389, 392 (D.C. 2023) (no hearing required if defendant's "assertions . . . would not merit relief even if true"); *see also* D.C. Code § 23-110(c) (no hearing required if the

"files and records of the case conclusively show that [White] is entitled to no relief."). $^{6}$ 

# CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the government respectfully submits that the

judgment of the Superior Court should be affirmed.